



Theses and Dissertations

2017-12-01

The Effects of Family Stressors on Depression in Latino Adolescents as Mediated by Interparental Conflict

Jenny Carolina Mondragon Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd



Part of the Marriage and Family Therapy and Counseling Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Mondragon, Jenny Carolina, "The Effects of Family Stressors on Depression in Latino Adolescents as Mediated by Interparental Conflict" (2017). Theses and Dissertations. 6603. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/6603

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.



The Effects of Family Stressors on Depression in Latino Adolescents as Mediated by Interparental Conflict

Jenny Carolina Mondragon

A thesis submitted to the faculty of
Brigham Young University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Roy A. Bean, Chair Angela Beesley Bradford Richard B. Miller

School of Family Life

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2017 Jenny Carolina Mondragon

All Rights Reserved



ABSTRACT

The Effects of Family Stressors on Depression in Latino Adolescents as Mediated by Interparental Conflict

Jenny Carolina Mondragon School of Family Life, BYU Master of Science

Extensive literature suggests that Latino youth experience higher levels of depression when compared to youth from other ethnic backgrounds; yet, relatively little is known regarding why this particular population is especially susceptible to depression. This study focused on family level stressors and the link between interparental conflict and adolescent depressive symptoms in Latino families. The sample consisted of 400 girls and 290 boys; they were distributed into four groups based on gender and family structure. Written surveys were completed in their respective English classes measuring the aforementioned variables. Results indicated a significant relationship across all four groups between family stressors and interparental conflict, along with interparental conflict and depression. Implications and directions for future research are discussed.

Keywords: depression, family stress, interparental conflict, adolescents



Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
The Effects of Family Stressors on Depression in Latino Adolescents as Mediated by Interparental Conflict	1
Literature Review	2
Depression Among Adolescents	2
Family Stressors	3
Interparental Conflict	4
Gender Differences	6
Method	7
Procedure	7
Sample	8
Measures	8
Results	10
Discussion	12
Implications for Therapy	14
Limitations	15
Conclusion	16
References	17

List of Tables

Table 1 Demographic and Measurement Details	29
Table 2 Bivariate Correlations among Study Variables (Girls and Boys in Biological Families	s) 30
Table 3 Bivariate Correlations among Study Variables (Girls and Boys in Non-Biological	
Families)	31
Table 4 Goodness-of-Fit Statistics for Tests of Multigroup Invariance: A summary	32



List of Figures	List	of	Fig	ures
-----------------	------	----	-----	------

Figure 1 l	Hypothesized	Structural N	Model		33
I I E UI C I I	. I y pourosized	Du acturar r	V10401	 	



The Effects of Family Stressors on Depression in Latino Adolescents as Mediated by Interparental Conflict

Depression is a prevalent mental health disorder, often initiating in childhood and continuing on into adolescence. Adolescent depression has an estimated prevalence rate between 5% and 8% (Forum on Child and Family Statistics, 2013; Maughan et al., 2013; McCarthy et al., 2008) with chronic symptoms marked by considerable impairment, accounting for a significant quantity of the health care costs sustained by this age group (Birmaher et al., 1996). Furthermore, depression in adolescence is associated with adverse outcomes such as substance abuse, academic problems, cigarette smoking, high-risk sexual behavior, physical health problems, impaired social relationships, and an increased risk of suicide (Birmaher et al., 1996; Brent et al., 1994; Le et al., 2003). Presented by ethnicity, Latino adolescents report higher levels of depression compared to youth from other ethnic backgrounds (Twenge & Nolen-Hoekseman, 2002); however, relatively little is known about why Latino youth are particularly susceptible to depression (Céspedes & Huey, 2008).

Considering that the majority of research on child and adolescent depression has been centered on European Americans, researchers are restricted considerably when trying to understand depression among Latino youth. Furthermore, the available research on depression among Latino youth primarily focuses on how both foreign-born and US-born Latino youth experience acculturative stress (Hovey & King, 1996; Potochnick & Perreira, 2010; Roche & Kuperminc, 2012), with very little attention focused on family-level stressors (Cervantes, Goldbach, & Santos, 2011). Other studies look at mental health outcomes and economic stress (Garcia et al., 2014; Zychinski & Polo, 2012) but give insufficient attention to the role of family relationships in protecting adolescents (or placing them at increased risk) from the impact of said



stressors (Potochnick & Perreira, 2010). In order to more clearly understand this research topic, this study examines Latino family relationships and the associations between family stressors, interparental conflict, and adolescent depression.

Literature Review

Depression Among Adolescents

Depression in adolescence may present itself by a decline of interpersonal relationships, poor academic performance and increased risk of suicide and self-harm (Thapar, Collishaw, Pine, & Thapar, 2012). Depression can become a significant impairment for individuals and families, with some authors suggesting that "adolescent depression shows continuity into adulthood and it is predicted to become the second leading cause of disability worldwide by the year 2020" (Lewis et al., 2014, p. 319).

Additionally, persistent stressors at home can influence the development of depression and its prevalence from adolescence into adulthood (Hankin, 2006). Some longitudinal studies have identified that being exposed to stressful life events is a precursor for the intensity, frequency, and severity of depression (Goodyer, 2001). In fact, Hankin (2006) notes that a majority of the people suffering from a depressive disorder, report having experienced at least one significant negative life event in the month prior to the onset of depression.

In addition, depression is likely to be influenced by factors other than stressful life events, as parental conflict may also play an underlying role in adolescent depression. Huang and colleagues (2014) suggest that when a couple is unable to productively resolve their conflict; they are likely to involve their children in the conflict to release some of the anxiety and tension between them (Aro & Palosaari, 1992). The child might respond by developing a variety of symptoms, one of which could be depression (Huang, Costeines, Kaufman, & Ayala, 2014).



As a group, Latino youth in the United States, particularly Mexican American immigrants and Puerto Ricans, have been found to have high rates of internalizing spectrum problems such as depression (Bernal, Cumba-Aviles, & Saez-Santiago, 2006). Compared to other ethnic groups, Latinos are at increased risk for suicide, which is tightly linked with depression (Eaton et al., 2006; Goldston et al., 2008). Taken together, these findings accentuate that depression among Latino youth has high public health relevance and there is a need to expand the research for this ethnic group (Garcia, Manongdo, & Ozechowski, 2014).

Family Stressors

Family stressors are defined as life situations or alterations that place strain on the family unit, and may potentially lead to changes in the family system's functioning requiring a need for adjustment or adaptive behavior (McCubbin & Patterson, 1983). Family stressors may include low socioeconomic status, perceived financial strain, parents spending a lot of time outside of the home or parents getting in trouble with the law or going to jail (Chappel et al., 2014; Poehlmann et al., 2010; Ruiz-Casares et al., 2012). Family stressors often occur in conjunction with each other and have cumulative consequences on both adolescents and parents (Masten & Shaffer, 2006). For example, Valdez, Chavez, and Woulfe (2013) suggested that "parents affected by family stressors might be less able to provide a stimulating environment, demonstrate warmth, and deliver consistent discipline and monitoring." Other studies further this argument in observing that adolescents are impacted when parents are emotionally unavailable due to family stressors (Shanahan, 2000; Valdez, et al, 2013).

Additionally, the ramification for adolescents constantly being exposed to family stressors is that their well-being and healthy development are likely to be at risk (Cicchetti & Toth, 1998). Recognizing the function of stressors in the lives of adolescents is important,



considering that the predominant models of adolescent psychopathology emphasize the potential influence of environmental stressors in the prevalence of internalizing disorders in adolescents (Grant et al., 2003).

Finally, research suggests that economically disadvantaged families experience higher levels of stress, and are markedly more impacted by these events because of their limited resources to cope with them (Sheidow, Henry, Tolan, & Strachan, 2014). Since Latino families are more likely to live in poverty than those of the majority European American culture, Latino adolescents are more vulnerable to the adverse impact of stress exposure (Stein, Gonzalez, & Hug, 2012).

Interparental Conflict

One of the family processes that may be altered due to stressors is the quality of the marital relationship (Moore & Florsheim, 2008), especially as it relates to interparental conflict. A study by Buehler et al. refers to this type of discord as covert marital conflict and defines it as "hostile behaviors and affect that reflect passive-aggressive ways of managing conflict between parents" (Buehler et al., 1998, p. 120). These behaviors include trying to get the child to take sides, unfairly blaming child for marital problems, using the child as a messenger when one parent does not want to directly communicate with the other, and defaming the other parent in front of the child (Buehler et al., 1998).

Studies suggest that conflict between parents increases the risk of a variety of emotional and behavioral problems among adolescents (Ayoub et al., 1999; Cummings & Davies, 1994; Emery, 1999). In fact, the effect of interparental conflict both before and following marital dissolution has been demonstrated to be a pervasive stressor for adolescents from both intact and divorced families (Baker & Brassard, 2013). Within intact families, experiencing interparental



conflict and becoming involved in said conflict can develop into a situation that is emotionally draining and unsettling (Davies & Cummings, 1994; Weber & O'Brien, 1999). Additionally, Lewis, Siegel, and Lewis (1984) found that witnessing interparental conflict was reported by elementary school children to be the third most distressing life stressor they faced. Furthermore, Forehand et al. (1991) found that high levels of interparental conflict were associated with more parent-child relationship problems, which was in turn the best predictor of concurrent and subsequent difficulty in functioning for adolescents (Baker & Brassard, 2013).

Some of the internalizing problems associated with interparental conflict consist of symptoms such as depression, anxiety, and withdrawal (Buehler & Welsh, 2009). Adolescents are at a higher risk of experiencing distress when their parents include them in their marital discord, place them in a situation to take sides, or contend for their affection (Amato & Afifi, 2006). Adolescents often describe these negative feelings as being torn in two or caught in the middle (Afifi & Schrodt, 2003; Buchanan et al., 1991). Amato and Afifi (2006) also noted that children may assume that their behaviors will be perceived as acts of disloyalty by one or both parents; this can lead to levels of distress and may be a contributing factor for child adjustment problems.

Research indicates that Latino family functioning can be disrupted by family stressors, given that such life events adversely alter family processes and may indirectly cause conflict in the home as well as subsequently produce negative repercussions on adolescent well-being (Prelow, Loukas, & Jordan-Green, 2007). In the case of interparental conflict, the research indicates that Latino youth are affected to different degrees when compared to European Americans in the same age range. For example, contrasting Mexican Americans and European Americans Parke et al. (2004) found that parental conflict was significantly associated with



internalizing problems (including various depressive symptoms) for both populations, but there was a statistically stronger association for Latinos. However, another study by Bradford et al. (2004) comparing adolescents from 11 different nationalities, including Colombia and the United states, found that adolescents' reports of parental conflict were associated with internalizing problems (including depression) regardless of the national origin of the participants.

A thorough review of the available literature only found a small number of studies investigating both family stressors and interparental conflict. The research notes that while family stressors may directly disrupt adolescents, a possibility exists that this relation may be indirect and mediated by difficulty in functioning within numerous family systems (Salafia, Gondoli, & Grundy, 2008). For instance, family stressors may affect adolescents by first leading to problems in the parental subsystem (Elgar et al., 2004). In turn, research done by Buehler et al. (2007) suggests that exposing adolescents to parental problems is an added stressor to an already challenging developmental time period, and may prevent them from perceiving their family as a safe place to turn to for comfort and protection. As a result, any interparental hostility that takes place during this crucial transitional period may generate a situation in which the adolescent feels constrained to put his or her needs aside in order to solve the parental conflict (Buehler et al., 2007).

Gender Differences

The literature is inconclusive about gender differences and how adolescents respond to interparental conflict. For instance, some studies indicate that adolescent boys are more likely to

get involved in parental conflict (Jaffe, Wolfe, & Wilson, 1990). In comparison, other studies have noted that adolescent girls seem to be more susceptible to being caught in the middle of parental disputes (Davies et al., 2002; Goeke-Morey et al., 2003). However, the research related to the topic of gender differences and adolescent depression tends to be more consistent. In this body of research there are numerous studies suggesting that adolescent girls are more prone to depressive symptoms and consistently report higher levels of depression when compared to boys (Garber & Martin, 2002; Hankin & Abramson, 2001). Due to the gender differences reported in previous literature, this study will also examine how adolescents are impacted by interparental conflict (by gender) in order to better understand any differences for males and females.

It is predicted that the occurrence of interparental conflict will (at least, partially) mediate the effects that stress has on depression for Latino boys and girls. Interparental conflict and stress are both expected to be positively related to depression. Two control variables (child age and family socio-economic status [SES]) will be examined within the model and the model fit will be compared across four groups (boys and girls, from biological [living with both biological parents] and nonbiological families [living with at least one parent who is not a biological parent]). The relationship among study variables (and the expected direction of their associations) are presented in Figure 1 (the hypothesized structural model).

Method

Procedure

The data for this study were part of a larger project focusing on socializing dimensions and influences as they related to adolescent development and youth outcomes in various cultures. Data were collected from 2,292 ninth through twelfth graders in a west Texas area school district. Based on teacher's willingness to allow surveying in their classrooms, 4,150



students were eligible for participation. Students for whom parental consent had been obtained completed written surveys in their respective English class. Some students were absent during survey dates at school and others were not able to participate due to non-returned consent forms, resulting in 2,292 completed surveys (55.3% response rate). Seventy-eight surveys were discarded due to concerns regarding response integrity, with a resultant sample of 2,214. In terms of ethnic group categorization, 788 students self-identified as being Latino or Hispanic.

Sample

The Latino portion of the sample that reported on interparental conflict consisted of 400 girls and 290 boys, with an average age of 16.15. Nearly 50% of respondents came from an intact home, living with both biological parents. Approximately 14% of participants lived with just their mother, while another 12% reported living with their mother and step-father. The majority of respondents (51.5%) reported their socio-economic status to be about the same as most of their peers, 27.1% reported being richer than most, and the remaining 16.5% reported being poorer than most. Additional sample details are presented in table 1.

Measures

Family stressors. Children's experience of stressful life events was assessed using 16 items from Johnson (1982), with higher scores representing a more recent occurrence of stressful life events. Respondents answered how recently events happened, ranging from 0-"never happened," 1- "happened in your lifetime," 2-"happened in last six months." Sample items include (a) "frequent arguments between parents" and (b) "brother or sister leaving home." This measure has been found to be reliable and valid for use with a Latino sample in previous research (McCarty, 2006) and the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was found to be 0.92.



Reliability coefficients for this sample were found to range from .70 to .80 and additional measurement details are presented in table 1.

Interparental conflict. Interparental conflict is measured using a scale derived from Buehler et al. (1998) and consists of four questions: "How often does one of your parents try to get you to side with one of them?", "How often does one of your parents send a message to the other one through you because they don't want to talk to the other parent?", "How often do you feel caught in the middle when your parents fight?", and "How often do you feel torn between your parents?". Responses ranged from 1(never) to 4(very often). This interparental scale was developed in previous studies measuring marital conflict (Buehler et al., 1998) and has been utilized in previous cross-cultural studies utilizing a Latino sample (Bradford et al., 2004) where authors noted a reliability coefficient of .72. Reliability coefficients for this sample were found to range from .72 to .84 and additional measurement details are presented in table 1.

Depression. Adolescent depression was assessed using the ten-item Children's Depression Inventory (Kovacs, 1992). Respondents selected the most descriptive statement in response to the following prompt, "Mark one sentence from each group that best describes your feelings during the past two weeks". A three-point Likert scale (1-to-3) was used with higher scores indicating higher levels of depressive symptoms, after 4 items were reverse-coded from positive valenced to negative. As a sample item, respondents were given three options with each option having a different point value: (a) "I am sad once in a while" (1 point), (b) "I am sad many times" (2 points), and (c) "I am sad all the time" (3 points). In previous studies, the Cronbach's alpha coefficients was found to be .90 for participants with depressive disorders and .86 for participants without depressive disorders (Aluja & Blanch,



2002). Reliability coefficients for this sample were found to range from .81 to .85 and additional measurement details are presented in table 1.

Control variables. Several control variables were included in the analyses including family structure, child age, child gender and family SES. Family structure was based on participant's responses to the questions, "Which parents or guardians do you live with now?" Responses were: "mother and father", "mother only", "father only", "mother and stepfather", "father and stepmother", "some of the time in my mother's home and some in my father's", "other relatives", "guardian or foster parent who is not a relative", or "I live alone or with friends". Participants who reported living with both biological parents ("mother and father") were categorized as having a biological family structure while all other family configurations were grouped together as having a "non-biological" family structure. Socio-economic status was based on participant's responses to the question, "Compared to other kids your age, how well-off do you think your family is?" Responses were: "we are a lot poorer than most", "we are a little poorer than most", "we have about the same amount of money as most", "we are a lot richer than most".

Results

Measure items (for each of the three measures) were grouped into parcels following the recommendations of Seo et al. (2016). This action was taken given (a) the overall reputation and common utilization of the measures used here (see above), and (b) the focus here on associations among latent variables rather than item-level relationships. The parceling approach is also advantageous in that it, "conveys manifest information into latent space, reducing the specific variance of each item (i.e., increase the proportion of true-score variance



leading to higher reliability and greater communality)" (p. 377, Seo et al., 2016). Factor loadings for all indicators (parcels) across all four groups were found to be significant.

Using AMOS 24.0 (Arbuckle, 2008), the hypothesized model (see Figure 1) was examined for goodness-of-fit and measurement invariance across all four gender/family structure (G/FS) groups. Following the recommended procedure (Bartle-Haring, 1997; Bollen, 1989; Vandenberg and Lance, 2000), a configural model was established with all parameters unconstrained to serve as the "baseline" against which subsequent models (more constrained) could be compared. As seen in table 4, all CFI difference values for all models were found to be below the recommended .01 cutoff proposed by Cheung and Rensvold (2002) except in the case of model A. Regarding model A (all factor loadings for all measures were constrained to be equal across the four G/FS groups), the CFI difference was found to be slightly higher, at .017. As the more traditional measure of fit, the χ^2 difference tests demonstrated evidence for the invariance of factor loadings for the measures of family stressors and for depression but not for the measure of interparental conflict.

Initial data analyses included bivariate correlations among study variables for each of the four gender/family structure groups: boys/biological (n= 156), girls/biological (n= 186), boys/non-biological (n=134), and girls/non-biological (n=214). The means, standard deviations, ranges and reliabilities (Cronbach's alpha coefficients) are presented in table 1 while correlations are presented in tables 2 and 3 (biological and non-biological families, respectively).

Examining the hypothesized structural model, the resultant indices indicated a good fit as follows: $\chi 2 = 233.77$, p < .001 (df = 164), $\chi 2/\text{df} = 1.425$, CFI = .962, TLI = .938, and RMSEA = .024. Based on fit index standards, these results indicated that the model was a very good fit for



the data based on the following recommendations: CFI values above .90, χ 2/df values below 2.0, and RMSEA value below .05 (Hu & Bentler, 1999). Across the four G/FS groups, a number of similarities and differences in path coefficients were noted. First, for all four G/FS groups, a significant positive relationship was found between family stressors and interparental conflict, indicating that for Latino families (and probably all families), family-level stress contributes to interparental conflict. Second, across all four groups, a significant positive relationship was noted between interparental conflict and depression, meaning that for Latino youth (and, again, probably all youth), where there is parental conflict there is also youth depression. As the third consistency in findings across all four G/FS groups, the relationships between control variables (youth age and family SES) were found to be non-significant.

The only noteworthy difference in path coefficients was for the girls in biological families group where a significant relationship was noted between family stress and youth depression, whereas this relationship was found to be non-significant for the other three groups. In and of itself, this finding is not surprising given that this same association has been noted in other studies (e.g., Cicchetti & Toth, 1998); however, it is surprising to find it in the case of only one group of adolescents. Perhaps, girls (rather than boys) and girls in two-parent biological families (rather than in other familial structural arrangements) are more connected and attentive to family-level stressors.

Discussion

The results indicate a significant positive relationship between family stressors and interparental conflict for Latino families. As mentioned by McCubbin & Patterson (1983) when overwhelming stressors exist in the home it can be very emotionally taxing, and shifts may occur in family functioning and family interactions. A significant interaction that is altered is that of



the parental relationship, feelings of inadequacy may arise as parents lack the mechanisms to navigate through conflict and begin exhibiting manipulative behaviors involving their children as mentioned by Buehler et al. (1998). Although on the surface, covert forms of conflict may appear to be innocuous, they can cause just as much harm as more overt forms of conflict, depriving adolescents the opportunity to observe healthy conflict resolution and leading to developmental problems (Whittaker & Bry 1991), including depressive symptoms.

The results also indicate a significant positive relationship between interparental conflict and adolescent depression. Adolescence is already a pivotal stage in which mental health is fragile and readily susceptible (Andersen, 2003) and the mechanism of communication between parents and adolescents have a strong impact on adolescent development (Yoon et al., 2004). The presence of interparental conflict represents weakened mechanisms of communication which can disrupt family environment and in turn, may lead adolescents to experience feelings of worthlessness and guilt if they begin to blame themselves for the problems of their parents. In addition, the adolescent may display fatigue, diminished interest or pleasure in all or almost all activities and a decreased ability to concentrate due to having to act as a messenger for the parents. Being in frequent situations of having to take sides with one or the other parent may cause teens to experience depression or depressive symptoms on a consistent basis (Buehler et al., 1998).

Some studies have shown a link between age and depression with marked danger of having at least 1 psychiatric disorder by age 16 (Costello et al., 2003), depression appears to be not as widespread among middle aged individuals but notably prevalent among younger and older adults (Mirowsky & Ross, 1992). However, the results for this study indicate a non-significant relationship between age and depression.



Additionally, the results indicate that for girls in families with both biological parents there was a significant positive relationship between family stress and depression. As mentioned by Cicchetti and Toth (1998) when adolescents experience regular family stress their well-being and development become susceptible to risks, depression being one of those risks. The gender-specific aspect of this set of findings can be supported by other studies where, compared to boys, girls generally receive more exposure to a variety of stresses including family level stressors (Hankin et al., 2007; Rudolph, 2002). This can be especially applicable to Latina girls as this population seems to ascribe a considerable amount of value on positive family relationships (Romero & Ruiz, 2007). Since family stress can lead to conflict, Latina girls may perceive a deterioration in positive family functioning and over time depressive symptoms may emerge.

Implications for Therapy

These findings can be helpful in broadening our understanding of depression among

Latino adolescents. Particularly the link that may exist between interparental conflict and

depression, suggesting that attention should be devoted to this type of conflict in the assessment

and intervention stages. If this type of conflict is detected within family interactions it would be

valuable to educate parents on the detrimental effect that these passive-aggressive behaviors can

have on their adolescent's mental health development. Furthermore, parents can be presented

with alternate coping mechanisms and ways of approaching conflict resolution without placing

their children in the middle of it.

Additionally, the positive relationship that was found between family stressors and interparental conflict, joins other findings in underscoring the adverse effects that family level stressors may impose on the parental unit and subsequently affecting the entire family. It is important for clinicians to consider the many factors that may influence interparental conflict,



stress being one of them. Although family stressors cannot be avoided a realistic focus of therapy can consist of relaxation techniques and positive imagery.

Finally, Latina girls seem to resort to their parents for a lot of emotional support and it is important for clinicians treating this population to be aware of how these girls react to hardship in the home. These findings seem to highlight that Latina girls may experience higher levels of depression in the presence of family stress possibly due to the lack of emotional support and resources available to them. Understanding these differences may help clinicians to tailor therapy sessions in a way that will address these needs and provide Latina girls and their parents with essential resources to assess and manage depressive symptoms.

Limitations

Several limitations to the present study should be noted. First, this sample primarily focuses on school-going youth and as Bradford et al. (2004) previously noted going to school or having a high attendance rate symbolizes a certain amount of privilege and familial/individual stability that may not be accessible to all youth. Given this observation, it is unfair to assume that the family interactions explored in these findings parallel families where kids do not attend school or have intermittent attendance.

Second, the single-informant design of this study can be problematic in terms of credibility and lack of complete representation. This type of design places a substantial amount of trust on the adolescent's ability to provide an accurate report, but fails to survey the parents and thus their experiences are not represented. Without collecting data from both sides, it becomes difficult to make exhaustive conclusions and thus many of the findings only make up part of the narrative (Baker & Brassard, 2013).



Lastly, another limitation to this study is that information was gathered by use of cross-sectional tests and therefore, the trends and interactions observed between variables only capture a small glimpse of these relationships (Chappel et al., 2014). To better understand how these patterns affect Latino families over a period of time, longitudinal tests should be conducted.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates that family level stressors play a significant role among Latino families by adversely altering family relationships, and are likely to increase friction between parental interactions perhaps leading to behaviors that place children in the middle of the conflict. These findings further reveal that when interparental conflict is present it places Latino adolescents at an increased risk for developing depressive symptoms. Furthermore, it provides insight into the possible ways in which Latino boys and girls respond differently to difficult situations, with the present study suggesting that girls are more affected by perceiving family stress in the home. These findings emphasize the burden that stress places on the whole family and the interactions that may influence adolescent depression, strategies should be aimed at monitoring these occurrences and increasing our understanding of them.



References

- Afifi, T. D., & Schrodt, P. (2003). 'Feeling caught' as a mediator of adolescents' and young adults' avoidance and satisfaction with their parents in divorced and non-divorced households. *Communication Monographs*, 70(2), 142-173.

 doi:10.1080/0363775032000133791
- Aluja, A., & Blanch, A. (2002). The Children Depression Inventory as predictor of social and scholastic competence. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, *18*(3), 259-274. doi:10.1027//1015-5759.18.3.259
- Amato, P. R., & Afifi, T. D. (2006). Feeling caught between parents: Adult children's relations with parents and subjective well-being. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68(1), 222-235. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00243.x
- Andersen, S. L. (2003). Trajectories of brain development: Point of vulnerability or window of opportunity? *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27(1-2), 3-18. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(03)00005-8
- Angold, A., Costello, E. J., & Worthman, C. M. (1998). Puberty and depression: The roles of age, pubertal status and pubertal timing. *Psychological Medicine*, *28*(1), 51-61. doi:10.1017/S003329179700593X
- Arbuckle, J. L. (2008). AMOS 17.0 [Software]. Crawfordville, FL: AMOS Development Corporation.
- Aro, H. M., & Palosaari, U. K. (1992). Parental divorce, adolescence, and transition to young adulthood: A follow-up study. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 62(3), 421-429. doi:10.1037/h0079342



- Aseltine, R. J. (1996). Pathways linking parental divorce with adolescent depression. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *37*(2), 133-148. doi:10.2307/2137269
- Ayoub, C. C., Deutsch, R. M., & Maraganore, A. (1999). Emotional distress in children of high-conflict divorce: The impact of marital conflict and violence. *Family & Conciliation Courts Review*, *37*(3), 297-314. doi:10.1111/j.174-1617.1999.tb01307.x
- Baker, A. L., & Brassard, M. R. (2013). Adolescents caught in parental loyalty conflicts. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 54(5), 393-413. doi:10.1080/10502556.2013.800398
- Bartle-Haring, S. (1997). The relationships among parent-adolescent differentiation, sex role orientation and identity development in late adolescence and early adulthood. *Journal of Adolescence*, 20(5), 553-565. doi:10.1006/jado.1997.0109
- Bernal, G., Cumba-Avilés, E., & Sáez-Santiago, E. (2006). Cultural and relational processes in depressed Latino adolescents. In S. H. Beach, M. Z. Wamboldt, N. J. Kaslow, R. E. Heyman, M. B. First, L. G. Underwood, ... D. Reiss (Eds.), *Relational processes and DSM-V: Neuroscience, assessment, prevention, and treatment* (pp. 211-224). Arlington, VA, US: American Psychiatric Association.
- Birmaher, B., Ryan, N. D., Williamson, D. E., Brent, D. A., Kaufman, J., Dahl, R. E., & ...

 Nelson, B. (1996). Childhood and adolescent depression: A review of the past 10 years,

 Part I. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *35*(11),

 1427-1439. doi:10.1097/00004583-199611000-00011
- Bollen, K. A. (1989). *Structural equations with latent variables*. Oxford, England: John Wiley & Sons.



- Bradford, K., Barber, B. K., Olsen, J. A., Maughan, S. L., Erickson, L. D., Ward, D., & Stolz,
 H. E. (2004). A multi-national study of interparental conflict, parenting, and
 adolescent functioning: South Africa, Bangladesh, China, India, Bosnia, Germany,
 Palestine, Colombia, and the United States. *Marriage & Family Review*, 35(3-4), 107-137. doi:10.1300/J002v35n03 07
- Bradford, K., & Barber, B. K. (2005). Interparental conflict as intrusive family process. *Journal of Emotional Abuse*, *5*(2-3), 143-167. doi:10.1300/J135v05n02_07
- Brent, D. A., Johnson, B. A., Perper, J., Connolly, J., Bridge, J., Bartle, S., & Rather, C. (1994).

 Personality disorder, personality traits, impulsive violence, and completed suicide in adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent*Psychiatry, 33(8), 1080-1086. doi:10.1097/00004583-199410000-00003
- Buchanan, C. M., Maccoby, E. E., & Dornbusch, S. M. (1991). Caught between parents:

 Adolescents' experience in divorced homes. *Child Development*, 62(5), 1008-1029.

 doi:10.2307/1131149
- Buehler, C., Anthony, C., Krishnakumar, A., & Stone, G. (1997). Interparental conflict and youth problem behaviors: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *6*(2), 223-247. doi:10.1023/A:1025006909538
- Buehler, C., Krishnakumar, A., Stone, G., Anthony, C., Pemberton, S., Gerard, J., & Barber, B.
 K. (1998). Interparental conflict styles and youth problem behaviors: A two-sample replication study. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 60(1), 119-132.
 doi:10.2307/353446



- Buehler, C., Lange, G., & Franck, K. L. (2007). Adolescents' cognitive and emotional responses to marital hostility. *Child Development*, 78(3), 775-789. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01032.x
- Buehler, C., & Welsh, D. P. (2009). A process model of adolescents' triangulation into parents' marital conflict: The role of emotional reactivity. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23(2), 167-180. doi:10.1037/a0014976
- Cervantes, R., Goldbach, J., & Santos, S. M. (2011). Familia Adelante: A multi-risk prevention intervention for Latino families. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, *32*(3-4), 225-234. doi:10.1007/s10935-011-0251-y
- Céspedes, Y. M., & Huey, S. J. (2008). Depression in Latino adolescents: A cultural discrepancy perspective. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *14*(2), 168-172. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.14.2.168
- Chappel, A. M., Suldo, S. M., & Ogg, J. A. (2014). Associations between adolescents' family stressors and life satisfaction. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *23*(1), 76-84. doi:10.1007/s10826-012-9687-9
- Cicchetti, D., & Toth, S. L. (1998). The development of depression in children and adolescents.

 American Psychologist, 53(2), 221-241. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.53.2.221
- Costello, E. J., Mustillo, S., Erkanli, A., Keeler, G., & Angold, A. (2003). Prevalence and development of psychiatric disorders in childhood and adolescence. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60(8), 837-844. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.60.8.837
- Cummings, E. M., & Davies, P. (1994). *Children and marital conflict: The impact of family dispute and resolution*. New York, NY, US: Guilford Press.



- Davies, P. T., & Cummings, E. M. (1994). Marital conflict and child adjustment: An emotional security hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *116*(3), 387-411. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.116.3.387
- Davies, P. T., Forman, E. M., Rasi, J. A., & Stevens, K. I. (2002). Assessing children's emotional security in the interparental relationship: The Security in the Interparental Subsystem Scales. *Child Development*, 73(2), 544-562. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00423
- Eaton, D. K., Kann, L., Kinchen, S., Ross, J., Hawkins, J., Harris, W. A.,.. Wechsler, H. (2006, June 9). *Youth risk Behavior surveillance United States, 2005*. MMWR, 55, SS-5.

 Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/ss/ss5505.pdf
- Elgar, F. J., McGrath, P. J., Waschbusch, D. A., Stewart, S. H., & Curtis, L. J. (2004). Mutual influences on maternal depression and child adjustment problems. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *24*(4), 441-459. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2004.02.002
- Emery, R. E. (1999). *Marriage, divorce, and children's adjustment., 2nd ed.* Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Forehand, R., Wierson, M., Thomas, A. M., Fauber, R., Armistead, L., Kemptom, T., & Long, N. (1991). A short-term longitudinal examination of young adolescent functioning following divorce: The role of family factors. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *19*(1), 97-111. doi:10.1007/BF00910567
- Forum on Child and Family Statistics. America's Children: Key National

 Indicators of Well-Being, 2013. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

 Retrieved from http://www.childstats.gov/americaschildren/health4.asp



- Garber, J., & Martin, N. C. (2002). Negative cognitions in offspring of depressed parents:

 Mechanisms of risk. In S. H. Goodman, I. H. Gotlib, S. H. Goodman, I. H. Gotlib

 (Eds.), *Children of depressed parents: Mechanisms of risk and implications for treatment*(pp. 121-153). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association.

 doi:10.1037/10449-005
- García, J. R., Manongdo, J. A., & Ozechowski, T. J. (2014). Depression symptoms among Mexican American youth: Paternal parenting in the context of maternal parenting, economic stress, and youth gender. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 20(1), 27-36. doi:10.1037/a0033350
- Garnefski, N., & Diekstra, R. W. (1997). Adolescents from one parent, stepparent and intact families: Emotional problems and suicide attempts. *Journal of Adolescence*, 20(2), 201-208. doi:10.1006/jado.1996.0077
- Goeke-Morey, M. C., Cummings, E. M., Harold, G. T., & Shelton, K. H. (2003). Categories and continua of destructive and constructive marital conflict tactics from the perspective of U.S. and Welsh children. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *17*(3), 327-338. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.17.3.327
- Goldston, D. B., Molock, S. D., Whitbeck, L. B., Murakami, J. L., Zayas, L. H., & Hall, G. N. (2008). Cultural considerations in adolescent suicide prevention and psychosocial treatment. *American Psychologist*, *63*(1), 14-31. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.63.1.14
- Goodyer, I. M. (2001). Life events: Their nature and effects. In I. M. Goodyer, I. M. Goodyer (Eds.), *The depressed child and adolescent, 2nd ed* (pp. 204-232). New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511543821.009



- Grant, K. E., Compas, B. E., Stuhlmacher, A. F., Thurm, A. E., McMahon, S. D., & Halpert, J. A. (2003). Stressors and child and adolescent psychopathology: Moving from markers to mechanisms of risk. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(3), 447-466. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.129.3.447
- Hankin, B. L., & Abramson, L. Y. (2001). Development of gender differences in depression: An elaborated cognitive vulnerability–transactional stress theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 127(6), 773-796. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.127.6.773
- Hankin, B. L. (2006). Adolescent depression: Description, causes, and interventions. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 8(1), 102-114. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2005.10.012
- Hankin, B. L., Mermelstein, R., & Roesch, L. (2007). Sex differences in adolescent depression:

 Stress exposure and reactivity models. *Child Development*, 78(1), 279-295.

 doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00997.x
- Hovey, J. D., & King, C. A. (1996). Acculturative stress, depression, and suicidal ideation among immigrant and second-generation Latino adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 35(9), 1183-1192. doi:10.1097/00004583-199609000-00016
- Huang, C. Y., Costeines, J., Kaufman, J. S., & Ayala, C. (2014). Parenting stress, social support, and depression for ethnic minority adolescent mothers: Impact on child development. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 23(2), 255-262. doi:10.1007/s10826-013-9807-1
- Jaffe, P. G., Wolfe, D. A., & Wilson, S. K. (1990). *Children of battered women*. Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.



- Johnson, J. (1982). Life events as stressors in childhood and adolescence. In Lahey, B. and Kazdin, A. (eds.), *Advances in Clinical Child Psychology* (Vol. 2). Plenum Press, New York.
- Kobus, K., & Reyes, O. (2000). A descriptive study of urban Mexican American adolescents' perceived stress and coping. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 22(2), 163-178. doi:10.1177/0739986300222002
- Kovacs, M. (1992). Children's depression inventory. Niagra Falls, NY: Multi-Health Systems.
- Le, H., Muñoz, R. F., Ippen, C. G., & Stoddard, J. L. (2003). Treatment is not enough: We must prevent major depression in women. *Prevention & Treatment*, 6(1), doi:10.1037/1522-3736.6.1.610a
- Lewis, C. E., Siegel, J. M., & Lewis, M. A. (1984). Feeling bad: Exploring sources of distress among pre-adolescent children. *American Journal of Public Health*, 74(2), 117-122. doi:10.2105/AJPH.74.2.117
- Lewis, G., Collishaw, S., Thapar, A., & Harold, G. T. (2014). Parent–child hostility and child and adolescent depression symptoms: The direction of effects, role of genetic factors and gender. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *23*(5), 317-327. doi:10.1007/s00787-013-0460-4
- Masten, A. S., & Shaffer, A. (2006). How families matter in child development: Reflections from research on risk and resilience. In A. Clarke-Stewart, J. Dunn, A. Clarke-Stewart, J. Dunn (Eds.), *Families count: Effects on child and adolescent development* (pp. 5-25).
 New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511616259.002



- Maughan, B., Collishaw, S., & Stringaris, A. (2013). Depression in childhood and adolescence. *Journal of the Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry / Journal De L'académie Canadienne De Psychiatrie De L'enfant Et De L'adolescent, 22*(1), 35-40.
- McCarty, C. A., Vander Stoep, A., Kuo, E. S., & McCauley, E. (2006). Depressive symptoms among delinquent youth: Testing models of association with stress and support. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 28(2), 85-93. doi:10.1007/s10862-006-7486-6
- McCarthy, J., Downes, E. J., & Sherman, C. A. (2008). Looking back at adolescent depression:

 A qualitative study. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, *30*(1), 49-68.

 doi:10.17744/mehc.30.1.at21675r585k1725
- McCubbin, H. I., & Patterson, J. M. (1983). The Family Stress Process: The Double ABCX Model of adjustment and adaptation. *Marriage & Family Review*, *6*(1-2), 7-37. doi:10.1300/J002v06n01_02
- Mirowsky, J., & Ross, C. E. (1992). Age and depression. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 33(3), 187-205. doi: 10.2307/2137349
- Moore, D. R., & Florsheim, P. (2008). Interpartner conflict and child abuse risk among African American and Latino adolescent parenting couples. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *32*(4), 463-475. doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.05.006
- Parke, R. D., Coltrane, S., Duffy, S., Buriel, R., Dennis, J., Powers, J., & ... Widaman, K. F. (2004). Economic stress, parenting, and child adjustment in Mexican American and European American families. *Child Development*, 75(6), 1632-1656. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00807.x



- Poehlmann, J., Dallaire, D., Loper, A. B., & Shear, L. D. (2010). Children's contact with their incarcerated parents: Research findings and recommendations. *American Psychologist*, 65(6), 575-598. doi:10.1037/a0020279
- Potochnick, S. R., & Perreira, K. M. (2010). Depression and anxiety among first-generation immigrant Latino youth. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, *198*(7), 470-477. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181e4ce24
- Prelow, H. M., Loukas, A., & Jordan-Green, L. (2007). Socioenvironmental risk and adjustment in Latino youth: The mediating effects of family processes and social competence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *36*(4), 465-476. doi:10.1007/s10964-006-9106-x
- Roche, C., & Kuperminc, G. P. (2012). Acculturative stress and school belonging among Latino youth. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *34*(1), 61-76. doi:10.1177/0739986311430084
- Romero, A. J., & Ruiz, M. (2007). Does familism lead to increased parental monitoring?:

 Protective factors for coping with risky behaviors. *Journal of Child and Family*Studies, 16(2), 143-154. doi:10.1007/s10826-006-9074-5
- Rudolph, K. D. (2002). Gender differences in emotional responses to interpersonal stress during adolescence. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *30*(4, Suppl), 3-13. doi:10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00383-4
- Ruiz-Casares, M., Rousseau, C., Currie, J. L., & Heymann, J. (2012). 'I hold on to my teddy bear really tight': Children's experiences when they are home alone. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 82(1), 97-103. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.2011.01141.x



- Salafia, E. B., Gondoli, D. M., & Grundy, A. M. (2008). Marital conflict as a mediator of the longitudinal connections between maternal emotional distress and early adolescent maladjustment. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *17*(6), 928-950. doi:10.1007/s10826-008-9199-9
- Seo, H., Little, T. D., Shogren, K. A., & Lang, K. M. (2016). On the benefits of latent variable modeling for norming scales: The case of the Supports Intensity Scale—Children's Version. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 40(4), 373-384. doi:10.1177/0165025415591230
- Shanahan, M. J. (2000). Pathways to adulthood in changing societies: Variability and mechanisms in life course perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *26*667-692. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.667
- Sheidow, A. J., Henry, D. B., Tolan, P. H., & Strachan, M. K. (2014). The role of stress exposure and family functioning in internalizing outcomes of urban families. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *23*(8), 1351-1365. doi:10.1007/s10826-013-9793-3
- Stein, G. L., Gonzalez, L. M., & Huq, N. (2012). Cultural stressors and the hopelessness model of depressive symptoms in Latino adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *41*(10), 1339-1349. doi:10.1007/s10964-012-9765-8
- Thapar, A., Collishaw, S., Pine, D. S., & Thapar, A. K. (2012). Depression in adolescence. *The Lancet*, *379*(9820), 1056-1067. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4
- Twenge, J. M., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2002). Age, gender, race, socioeconomic status, and birth cohort difference on the children's depression inventory: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 111(4), 578-588. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.111.4.578



- Valdez, C. R., Chavez, T., & Woulfe, J. (2013). Emerging adults' lived experience of formative family stress: The family's lasting influence. *Qualitative Health Research*, *23*(8), 1089-1102. doi:10.1177/1049732313494271
- Vandenberg, R. J., & Lance, C. E. (2000). A review and synthesis of the measurement invariance literature: Suggestions, practices, and recommendations for organizational research. *Organizational Research Methods*, *3*(1), 4-69. doi:10.1177/109442810031002
- Weber, J. L., & O'Brien, M. (1999). Latino children's responses to simulated interparental conflict. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *23*(3), 247-270. doi:10.1023/A:1018739514320
- Whittaker, S., & Bry, B. H. (1991). Overt and covert parental conflict and adolescent problems:

 Observed marital interaction in clinic and nonclinic families. *Adolescence*, 26(104), 865-876.
- Yoon, J. S., Barton, E., & Taiariol, J. (2004). Relational aggression in middle school:

 Educational implications of development research. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*,

 24(3), 303-318. doi: 10.1177/0272431604265681
- Zychinski, K. E., & Polo, A. J. (2012). Academic achievement and depressive symptoms in low-income Latino youth. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 21(4), 565-577. doi:10.1007/s10826-011-9509-5



Table 1 Demographic and Measurement Details

	Boys/Bio	Girls/Bio	Boys/Non-Bio	Girls/Non-Bio
Sample Size	156	186	134	214
Age: mean (SD),	16.15 (1.10)	16.00 (1.04)	16.10 (1.20)	16.00 (1.01)
Range	14-18	14-18	14-18	14-19
SES: mean (SD),	3.23 (.80)	3.15 (.70)	3.10 (.856)	3.03 (.70)
Response range	1-5	1-5	1-5	1-5
FS: Mean (SD),	9.74 (5.50)	10.64 (4.75)	13.42 (5.24)	14.91 (8.28)
Response range	1-3	1-3	1-3	1-3
Reliability	.82	.74	.79	.70
IPC: mean (SD),	6.23 (2.45)	6.53 (3.02)	6.76 (3.17)	7.51 (3.73)
Response range	1-4	1-4	1-4	1-4
Reliability	.72	.83	.80	.84
Dep: mean (SD),	1.43 (2.00)	2.57 (2.59)	2.00 (2.33)	2.90 (2.71)
Response range	1-3	1-3	1-3	1-3
Reliability	.80	.88	.82	.85

Note. SES = socioeconomic status; FS = family stress; IPC = interparental conflict;

Dep = adolescent depression; SD= standard deviation; Boys/Bio = boys in biological families; Boys/Non-Bio = boys in non-biological families; Girls/Bio = girls in biological families; Girls/Non-Bio = girls in non-biological families.



Table 2 Bivariate Correlations among Study Variables (Girls and Boys in Biological

Families)

	Age	SES	FS	IPC	Depression
Age		.05	08	03	.00
SES	06		09	17*	18**
FS	00	11		.39**	.40**
IPC	02	.05	.36**		.28**
Depression	09	12	.39**	.32**	

Note: correlations for boys are above diagonal, girls below diagonal; SES = socioeconomic status; FS = family stress; IPC = inter-parental conflict



^{*.} *p*< 0.05. ** *p*< 0.01.

Table 3 Bivariate Correlations among Study Variables (Girls and Boys in Non-Biological Families)

	Age	SES	FS	IPC	Depression
Age		.02	.08	.02	.04
SES	.15*		14	07	17
FS	.06	12		.24*	.24**
IPC	03	05	.18*		.27**
Depression	07	10	.12	.28**	

Note: correlations for boys are above diagonal, girls below diagonal; SES = socioeconomic status; FS= family stress; IPC = interparental conflict *. p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01.



Table 4 Goodness-of-Fit Statistics for Tests of Multigroup Invariance: A summary

Model Description	Comparative	χ^2	df	$\Delta \chi^2$	Δdf	Significance	CFI	ΔCFI
	Model							
1. CONFIGURAL model,	n/a	152.221	96	n/a	n/a	n/a	.971	n/a
equality not constrained								
2A. Measurement model A: All	2A versus 1	201.325	114	49.104	18	<i>p</i> < .005	.954	.017
factor loadings constrained								
equal.								
2B. Measurement model B:	2B versus 1	158.181	102	5.96	6	NS	.971	.000
Factor loadings for only FS								
constrained equal								
2C. Measurement model C:	2C versus 1	182.631	108	30.41	12	<i>p</i> < .005	.961	.010
Factor loadings for only FS and								
IPC constrained								
2D. Measurement model D:	2D versus 1	175.914	108	23.693	12	<i>p</i> < .01	.964	.007
Factor loadings for only FS and								
DEP constrained								
2E. Measurement model D:	2E versus 1	161.481	105	9.26	9	NS	.970	.001
Factor loadings for only FS and								
DEP Parcel2 constrained								
2F. Measurement model D:	2F versus 1	165.146	105	12.925	9	NS	.969	.002
Factor loadings for only FS and								
DEP Parcel3 constrained								

Note: FS= family stress; IPC = interparental conflict; DEP= depression



Figure 1 Hypothesized Structural Model

